FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/21/2018 4:39 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96341-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 76708-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MODUMETAL, INC.,

Respondent,

VS.

XTALIC CORPORATION and JOHN HUNTER MARTIN

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

BYRNES KELLER CROMWELL, S

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Keith D. Petrak, WSBA No. 19159 Bradley S. Keller WSBA No. 10665 By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210

1000 2nd Avenue, Floor 38 Seattle WA 98104-1094 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Petitioners

B. Issues Presented for Review.

- 1. Must a respondent who has prevailed on the merits file a notice of cross-appeal in order to raise as an alternative ground for affirmance the trial court's erroneous denial of the respondent's motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction?
- 2. Where a defendant has unrebutted evidence of its independent research, can a trade secret plaintiff defeat summary judgment by showing *only* that the defendant hired a plaintiff's former employee who (1) had knowledge of plaintiff's trade secrets and (2) participated in defendant's independent research?
- 3. Is a plaintiff's common law claim for breach of confidentiality preempted by Washington's Uniform Trade Secrets Act, RCW ch. 19.108, where it depends on the same facts as the plaintiff's claim for misappropriation of trade secrets?

C. Statement of the Case.

1. Modumetal sued Xtalic for trade secret misappropriation after Xtalic hired Modumetal's former employee Hunter Martin.

Modumetal, Inc. and Xtalic Corporation are both involved in the research, development, and manufacture of materials and technology engineered at the nano-scale. (Op. at ¶2)¹ Modumetal is based in Washington; Xtalic is based in Massachusetts. (Op. at ¶2) Both companies use "electrodeposition," a process that deposits a coating of metal onto a surface by submersing the surface in a chemical bath and running an electrical current through it. (Op. at ¶2) The resulting metallic coating can improve corrosion and wear resistance, as well as aesthetic qualities. (Op. at ¶2)

The electrodeposition process can be manipulated by altering different variables, such as the metal being plated, the composition and temperature of the bath, bubbling various gases through the bath, and changing aspects of the electrical current. (Op. at ¶ 2) The goal of such manipulation is to identify valuable "recipes" for effectively electrodepositing a particular metal or alloy onto a particular substrate on an industrial scale for commercial purposes. (Op. at ¶ 2)

¹ Where possible this statement of the case relies on the Court of Appeals decision.

In 2008, John Martin began working at Modumetal as a student intern. (Op. at ¶ 3) Martin signed Modumetal's "Assignment of Inventions, Non-Disclosures and Non-Solicitation Agreement," which prohibited him from disclosing confidential information. (CP 4130-32) The agreement did not contain a non-competition clause and it is undisputed that Martin was free to leave Modumetal to work for one of its competitors. (CP 4130-32)

In 2009, after earning his engineering degree, Modumetal hired Martin as a full time employee; Martin did not sign a new non-disclosure agreement. (Op. at ¶ 4) Modumetal claims that Martin conducted researched on electrodeposition of aluminum, but after several months without success, Modumetal reassigned the project to others, who were eventually able to successfully plate aluminum onto different substrates while Mr. Martin was employed at Modumetal. (Op. at ¶¶ 4-8)

In late 2010, Martin applied for a position as an Engineering Project Manager at Xtalic, but because he lacked sufficient experience, Xtalic hired him as a less senior research and development engineer. (Op. at ¶¶ 9, 11) Dr. Chris Schuh, Xtalic's cofounder and professor at Massachusetts Institute of Technology, had been researching the electrodeposition of aluminum alloys since

2006. (Op. at ¶ 13) Dr. Schuh's doctoral student, Shiyun Ruan, also completed her dissertation on the creation and electrodeposition of a nanocrystalline aluminum-manganese alloy. (Op. at ¶ 13) Xtalic hired Dr. Ruan to form a research team to build on her research. (Op. at ¶ 13-14) After hiring Martin, Xtalic assigned him to be part of Dr. Ruan's team, which was managed by Xtalic's co-founder and Chief Technology Officer, Dr. Lund. (Op. at ¶¶ 13-14)

Martin informed Modumetal that he had been hired by Xtalic and assured Modumetal's CEO that he would "maintain full compliance with the non-disclosure agreement I signed." (CP 3534) Modumetal's CEO responded, expressing no concern about him working with aluminum alloys. (CP 1888-89) A few months after Martin's hire, Modumetal wrote Xtalic, stating that "to prevent the inadvertent use or disclosure of Modumetal confidential information ... Mr. Martin should be walled off from any involvement in the design of electroplating baths as well as in the production and testing of nanolaminated alloys containing nickel." (CP 5224) Xtalic again made no reference to excluding him from aluminum research. (CP 5224-25)

Martin and the rest of Xtalic's team worked for several years on their project, with Xtalic investing millions in its aluminum-manganse research. (CP 1787) In March 2013, Xtalic filed a patent

application entitled "Electrodeposition in Ionic Liquid Electrolytes," Patent App. No. 13/830,531. (CP 4372) The named inventors were Dr. Ruan, Dr. Paw, Dr. Lund, and Martin. (CP 4372) The application "focuse[d] on chemistries, methods, and systems for use with aluminum manganese based alloys." (CP 4393)

Martin left Xtalic in June 2013. (Op. at ¶ 16) Nearly a year later, in May 2014, Xtalic filed a patent application entitled "Preparation of Metal Substrate Surfaces for Electroplating in Ionic Liquids," Patent App. No. 14/271,371, naming Drs. Evgenia Freydina, Ruan, Schuh, and Lund, but not Martin, as inventors. (CP 4561) The application described "methods for preparing metal substrates prior to electroplating in order to provide a well-adhered electroplated metal layer," including aluminum or aluminum alloys. (CP 4571) Dr. Lund testified that the research supporting this application took place entirely after Martin left. (CP 1794-95)

Modumetal sued Martin and Xtalic alleging Martin breached his common law and contractual duties of confidentiality, that Xtalic induced those breaches, and that both Martin and Xtalic misappropriated its trade secrets. (Op. at ¶ 19) Xtalic moved to dismiss under CR 12(c) for lack of personal jurisdiction; the trial court denied the motion. (Op. at ¶ 21) The trial court then granted

Xtalic summary judgment on the ground that Modumetal lacked evidence of misappropriation, showing only a "coincidental or circumstantial end result that covers topics of the same nature that Mr. Martin worked on at Modumetal, without ... a clear specification as to what exactly it is he is supposed to have conveyed, and how that might have been conveyed." (RP 67) The trial court also ruled Modumetal's common law breach of confidentiality claims were preempted by the Uniform Trade Secrets Act because "the confidential information and the trade secret information are identical," and denied its CR 56(f) motion for a continuance to pursue further discovery because it failed to specify the information it thought additional discovery would uncover. (RP 64-65)

2. The Court of Appeals reversed summary judgment on the grounds that Martin's research at Modumetal and Xtalic's patent applications "overlapped."

The Court of Appeals reversed the dismissal of Modumetal's claims, holding Modumetal had constructed a sufficient "web" of circumstantial evidence to prove misappropriation because its expert testified "there is a 'very substantial overlap' between what Martin did at Modumetal" and Xtalic's patent applications. (Op. at ¶¶ 33, 47; see also ¶ 40 (citing expert's testimony there were "many similarities between Martin's work at Modumetal and Xtalic's

patent[s]")) The Court of Appeals also reversed the trial court's rulings on preemption and Modumetal's CR 56(f) motion. The Court of Appeals then refused to consider Xtalic's request that it affirm the dismissal of the claims against it for lack of personal jurisdiction because "Xtalic chose not to cross-appeal from the trial court's dismissal of its CR 12(c) motion to dismiss." (Op. at ¶ 57) The Court of Appeals granted Xtalic's motion to publish. (App. B)

D. Why This Court Should Grant Review.

1. The Court of Appeals' holding that a party that wholly prevails must cross-appeal conflicts with Washington precedent and upends established appellate procedure.

The Court of Appeals erroneously held that Xtalic could not raise the trial court's lack of personal jurisdiction over this Massachusetts corporation in the absence of a cross-appeal from the order denying its motion to dismiss. Xtalic, which had fully prevailed, was not required to cross-appeal in order to raise the trial court's lack of personal jurisdiction as an alternative ground for dismissal. This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with established precedent and involves an important issue of appellate procedure. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4).

Under RAP 2.4(a), "[t]he appellate court will grant a respondent affirmative relief by modifying the decision which is the

subject matter of the review only (1) if the respondent also seeks review of the decision by the timely filing of a notice of appeal or a notice of discretionary review, or (2) if demanded by the necessities of the case." Xtalic, which had wholly prevailed, was not seeking to "modify" the trial court's order of dismissal by asserting that it was entitled to dismissal of Modumetal's complaint on an alternative basis. See State v. Kindsvogel, 149 Wn.2d 477, 481, 69 P.3d 870 (2003) ("The prevailing party need not, however, cross-appeal a trial court ruling if it seeks no further affirmative relief."); McGowan v. State, 148 Wn.2d 278, 287-88, 60 P.3d 67 (2002) ("Because the State prevailed, it was not required to cross-appeal . . . it seeks no further affirmative relief from this court.") (citing RAP 2.4(a)); Ensberg v. Nelson, 178 Wn. App. 879, 889 n.7, ¶ 17, 320 P.3d 97 (2013), rev. denied, 180 Wn.2d 1012 (2014).

The Court of Appeals erroneously reasoned that affirming the dismissal of claims against Xtalic for lack of personal jurisdiction would be a grant of "affirmative relief" under RAP 2.4(b) "[b]ecause dismissal on the merits with prejudice and dismissal on jurisdictional grounds without prejudice are different forms of relief." (Op. at ¶ 57, relying on EF Operating Corp. v. American Bldgs., 993 F.2d 1046 (3d Cir.), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 868 (1993))

But *EF Operating*'s requirement of "a formal cross-appeal" has been criticized as serving no "useful purpose." Wright & Miller, 15A Fed. Prac. & Proc. Juris. § 3904 (2d ed.). As the Supreme Court of Guam explained in distinguishing *EF Operating*, while an appellee should not be allowed to "enlarg[e] his own rights" without a cross-appeal, "[t]he raising of an alternative ground that *lessens* an appellee's own rights does not require the filing of a cross-appeal." *Guam Hous*. & *Urban Renewal Auth*. (GHURA) v. Dongbu Ins. Co., Ltd., 2002 Guam 3, ¶10, 12 (2002) (emphasis added).

That is the case here — affirming for lack of personal jurisdiction would lessen Xtalic's rights by changing the dismissal of Modumetal's claims from one with prejudice to one without prejudice. Requiring a party who has wholly prevailed on the merits to file a cross-appeal in order to invoke the appellate court's authority to consider another reason for dismissal is a hypertechnical reading of the Rules of Appellate Procedure that conflicts with RAP 1.2(a)'s directive that the RAPs "will be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits." This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts

with established Washington precedent and drastically alters appellate procedure. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4).2

2. The Court of Appeals decision undermines the critical element of misappropriation in a trade secret action, allowing employers to use trade secret claims as unbargained for noncompetition agreements.

A trade secret plaintiff must establish that the defendant actually misappropriated the plaintiff's trade secret as a basic element of the cause of action under RCW 19.108.010(2). The Court of Appeals erroneously held that Modumetal could survive summary judgment on this critical element based on evidence that (1) Martin was aware of Modumetal's alleged trade secrets, and (2) there was "overlap" between Martin's research at Modumetal and the research disclosed in Xtalic's patent applications, including the application in which he had no involvement. But those facts will be true *any* time an employee accepts a job at a competitor. Employees – by the very fact of their employment – are exposed to an employer's trade secrets, and companies in the

² Upon reversing the Court of Appeals' refusal to consider Xtalic's personal jurisdiction argument, this Court should hold Washington lacks personal jurisdiction over Xtalic, a Massachusetts corporation with no offices or employees in Washington and no revenue derived from doing business in Washington. The conduct giving rise to Modumetal's claims is based on Martin's alleged actions *after* he relocated to Massachusetts. Xtalic had no contacts with Washington sufficient to subject it to jurisdiction here. *See SeaHAVN*, *Ltd v. Glitnir Bank*, 154 Wn. App. 550, 226 P.3d 141 (2010); Resp. Br. 41-50.

same field perform similar research. By excusing proof that the defendant actually used or was influenced by plaintiff's confidential research, the Court of Appeals decision allows former employers to wield trade secret litigation as an unbargained for noncompetition agreement, in conflict with this Court's precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

Under Washington's Uniform Trade Secrets Act ("UTSA"), RCW ch. 19.108, "it is the burden of the [plaintiff] to demonstrate that [an alleged trade secret] has actually been misappropriated in order to have a right to a damage award." Petters v. Williamson & Associates, Inc., 151 Wn. App. 154, 164, ¶ 24, 210 P.3d 1048 (2009), rev. denied, 168 Wn.2d 1007 (2010). RCW 19.108.010(2)(b) defines "misappropriation" as "[d]isclosure or use of a trade secret of another without express or implied consent " As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, "[t]he UTSA 'does not offer protection against discovery by fair and honest means, such as by independent invention." (Op. at ¶ 40, quoting Kewanee Oil Co. v. Bicron Corp., 416 U.S. 470, 476, 94 S.Ct. 1879, 40 L.Ed.2d 315 (1974)).

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that Modumetal had no direct evidence that Xtalic's research utilized Modumetal's alleged trade secrets, but held that because "[m]isappropriation... can rarely be proved by convincing direct evidence," Modumetal could instead

"construct a web of perhaps ambiguous circumstantial evidence from which the trier of fact may draw inferences." (Op. at ¶ 31, quoting Greenberg v. Croydon Plastics Co., Inc., 378 F.Supp. 806, 814 (E.D.Pa. 1974)). While circumstantial evidence may suffice to defeat a motion for summary judgment, in a trade secret case that evidence must show actual appropriation or competition will be stifled.

Here, the Court of Appeals held Modumetal constructed a sufficient "web" of circumstantial evidence because Martin had access to its trade secrets, and Xtalic's patent applications "overlapped" and had "similarities" to Martin's research at Modumetal. (Op. at ¶¶ 32-42) However, "access," "overlap," and "similarity" — standing alone — are insufficient to defeat summary judgment, where, as here, a defendant can establish (as Xtalic did with unrebutted evidence) that it independently developed the trade secret.³

³ The circumstantial evidence in the cases cited by the Court of Appeals was fundamentally different than the evidence here. In Sokol Crystal Products, Inc. v. DSC Communications Corp., 15 F.3d 1427, 1429, 1432 (7th Cir. 1994), the plaintiff submitted its sample product to the defendant after entering into a confidential information agreement and defendants' engineer testified he had taken the sample apart to "see what was there." In Leggett & Platt, Inc. v. Hickory Springs Mfg. Co., 285 F.3d 1353, 1361 (Fed. Cir. 2002), the defendant "had access to [plaintiff's] unfiled patent application containing confidential material." In Altavion, Inc. v. Konica Minolta Sys. Lab., Inc., 226 Cal. App. 4th 26, 37-40, 63, 171 Cal. Rptr. 3d 714 (2014), the plaintiff disclosed the trade secret directly to the defendant, which had no prior experience with the trade secret, and defendant's "internal documents extoll[ed] the novelty of" the trade secret.

The Court of Appeals' reasoning substantially undermines the freedom of contract and employment that is critical to the advancement of commerce and technology. If proof of access and similarity is all that is required to get to a jury on a trade secret claim, the mere act of hiring a competitor's former employee will *always* allow a plaintiff to survive summary judgment because those facts are present in *every* case where an employee leaves to work for a competitor. *See Nw. Bec-Corp v. Home Living Serv.*, 136 Idaho 835, 41 P.3d 263, 268 (2002) ("An employee will naturally take with her to a new company the skills, training, and knowledge she has acquired from her time with her previous employer."). The Delaware Supreme Court expressly rejected the notion that a "web" of circumstantial evidence — without any evidence of actual misappropriation — is enough to survive summary judgment:

The foregoing suspicious circumstances are all meaningful at the pleading stage. As the Superior Court held, those allegations allowed Elenza to defeat a motion for judgment on the pleadings. But, we are now at the summary judgment stage. It is no longer time for just smoke. There has to be some fire.

Elenza, Inc. v. Alcon Labs. Holding Corp., 183 A.3d 717, 723-26 (Del. 2018)4.

Where a defendant produces evidence that it independently developed its trade secret, requiring plaintiffs to provide something more than mere access and similarity to plaintiff's trade secret is not, as the Court of Appeals believed, an onerous burden. A plaintiff might prove the defendant previously struggled to produce a product and then, after hiring plaintiff's former employee, made an "unexplained leap in technical capacity." See, e.g., RLM Commc'ns, Inc. v. Tuschen, 831 F.3d 190, 202 (4th Cir. 2016). Or the plaintiff might show that the former employee, just prior to leaving, surreptitiously copied confidential information. LeJeune v. Coin Acceptors, Inc., 381 Md. 288, 849 A.2d 451, 466-67 (Md. 2004).

Requiring that a plaintiff provide "something more" once a defendant provides evidence of independent development is consistent with this Court's precedent shifting the burden of production back to the plaintiff to defeat summary judgment once a defendant rebuts the

⁴ See also Penalty Kick Mgmt. Ltd. v. Coca Cola Co., 318 F.3d 1284, 1294-96 (11th Cir. 2003) (plaintiff could not prove defendant "actually used" plaintiff's trade secrets based only on access and alleged similarities); Othentec Ltd. v. Phelan, 526 F.3d 135, 142 (4th Cir. 2008) (rejecting plaintiff's "suspicions" former employees were using its trade secrets to make product similar to those developed by plaintiff).

plaintiff's circumstantial evidence. See Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I, 144 Wn.2d 172, 180, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) (applying McDonnell Douglas burden shifting framework on summary judgment), abrogated on other grounds by Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas Cty., 189 Wn.2d 516, 404 P.3d 464 (2017); see also RLM, 831 F.3d at 201-02 (outlining burden shifting framework for trade secrets); Nw. Bec-Corp, 41 P.3d at 267 (same).

This case underscores why such an approach is appropriate. After Xtalic showed that it spent millions of dollars and years of employee hours on the research supporting its patent applications (CP 1787), Modumetal offered *nothing* to rebut this evidence, not only as to the patent application in which Martin was a co-inventor, but even more starkly, as to the second application in which Martin was *not* involved at all in the research. No employer would risk hiring an employee with experience in the same subject matter if it would invite a trade secret claim in which, as here, a putative competitor lays claim to intellectual property in which the employer invested millions in independent research.

The Court of Appeals reasoning that access and similarity alone supports an inference of misappropriation is – and can only be – based on the widely criticized "inevitable disclosure doctrine" that holds "a

plaintiff may prove a claim of trade secret misappropriation by demonstrating that defendant's new employment will inevitably lead him to rely on the plaintiff's trade secrets." *Leggett*, 285 F.3d at 1361-62 (citing *PepsiCo*, *Inc. v. Redmond*, 54 F.3d 1262, 1269 (7th Cir. 1995)). Washington has neither adopted nor rejected the inevitable disclosure doctrine, but other courts have rejected it "because its application would transform a confidentiality agreement into an unbargained-for and uncompensated noncompete agreement." *Moore v. Commercial Aircraft Interiors*, *LLC*, 168 Wn. App. 502, 513, ¶ 22, 278 P.3d 197 (citing *Whyte v. Schlage Lock Co.*, 101 Cal. App. 4th 1443, 125 Cal. Rptr. 2d 277 (2002)), *rev. denied*, 175 Wn.2d 1027 (2012); see also *LeJeune*, 849 A.2d at 471.6

The Court of Appeals' adoption of the inevitable disclosure doctrine conflicts with this Court's precedent that an employer may prevent a former employee from working for a competitor *only* by negotiating an express non-competition agreement and paying valuable

⁵ Legget's citation of PepsiCo – the seminal inevitable disclosure case – refutes the Court of Appeals' assertion (Op. at ¶ 41) Modumetal did not rely on inevitable disclosure. See Moore, 168 Wn. App. at 512, ¶ 22.

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