FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/22/2018 12:48 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96341-0

Court of Appeals No. 76708-9-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MODUMETAL, INC.,

Respondent,

v.

XTALIC CORPORATION and JOHN HUNTER MARTIN,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ramsey M. Al-Salam, WSBA No. 18822 RAlsalam@perkinscoie.com Lane M. Polozola, WSBA No. 50138 LPolozola@perkinscoie.com **PERKINS COIE LLP** 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 4900 Seattle, WA 98101-3099 Telephone: 206.359.8000 Facsimile: 206.359.9000

Attorneys for Respondent Modumetal, Inc.

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

III. ARGUMENT

The Court should decline review. This is a fact-intensive trade secret case in which a unanimous Court of Appeals panel applied wellestablished law regarding misappropriation. The court also applied straightforward procedural rules—the requirement that a respondent file a cross-appeal when seeking affirmative relief, such as reversal of an earlier trial court decision—and followed Supreme Court precedent in reversing the trial court's ruling on preemption.

For each aspect of the Court of Appeals' ruling that Petitioners now challenge, they ask this Court to correct errors they believe to exist. But this Court reviews lower courts' decisions only under limited circumstances. None of those circumstances exist here. Nor did the Court of Appeals commit any error. The Court should deny Petitioners' request and allow this case to proceed to trial.¹

A. Review Is Not Warranted Under RAP 13.4(b)

The Supreme Court is not an error-correcting court to which parties may appeal as a matter of right. Instead, the Rules of Appellate Procedure provide that a the Court will accept a petition for review "only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

"Substantial public interest" refers to issues with "sweeping implications." *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 578 (2005). "A decision that has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common

¹ By failing to challenge the court's CR 56(f) abuse of discretion holding other than with a passing reference, *see* Pet. at 18, n. 7, Petitioners ask this Court to expend resources rendering a decision that is premature. Modumetal's claims should at least proceed until discovery is complete in light of the Court of Appeals holding that the trial court abused its discretion.

issue." In re Flippo, 185 Wn.2d 1032 ¶2 (2016) (citing Watson, 155 Wn.2d at 577). The "substantial public interest" standard is consistent with the "substantial public importance" test for resolving standing issues, where an issue "is of substantial public importance, [if it] immediately affects significant segments of the population, and has a direct bearing on commerce, finance, labor, industry, or agriculture." See Grant County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake, 150 Wn.2d 791, 803 (2004) (quotes omitted).

Here, Petitioners request review of the Court of Appeals decision on three issues based on RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2) and/or (4). The first is whether the Court of Appeals properly refused to consider Xtalic's belated personal jurisdiction argument despite its failure to cross appeal. The second is whether the Court of Appeals properly concluded that Modumetal presented sufficient evidence to defeat summary judgment on its trade secret claim by showing that Xtalic *used* and *disclosed* Modumetal's trade secrets in its patent applications and that Petitioners failed to present unrebutted evidence of independent development of each trade secret at issue. The third is whether the Court of Appeals properly followed the Court's decision in *Boeing v. Sierracin*.

Review is not warranted. Petitioners complain that the Court of Appeals erred, but do not show that the court's opinion in fact conflicts with existing Supreme Court precedent or other Court of Appeals decisions. Nor do they meet the stringent standard of showing that the issues for review present questions of "substantial public interest." Petitioners merely disagree with the Court of Appeals. Accordingly, the Court should decline to exercise its discretion to review that decision.

B. The Court's Decision Applied Well-Understood Rules of Appellate Procedure That Require Cross-Appeals

The Court of Appeals holding that Xtalic could not rely on a lack of personal jurisdiction to seek affirmance of summary judgment was both correct and a routine application of the Rules of Appellate Procedure. Nonetheless, Xtalic asserts that this decision "conflicts with established precedent" and "involves an important issue of appellate procedure." Pet. at 7-9 (relying on RAP 13.4(1)-(2), (4)). But Xtalic does not identify the "established precedent" that the Court of Appeals allegedly failed to follow. It instead cites cases reciting the undisputed rule that cross-appeals are required when a respondent seeks affirmative relief and discusses a decision from the Supreme Court of Guam. *See* Pet. at 7-8. In doing so, Petitioners necessarily fail to show that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

Moreover, Petitioners ignore that the standard under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is not whether a Court of Appeals decision "involves an

important issue of appellate procedure." The standard is whether the decision raises an issue of substantial public interest, or as the Supreme Court has explained, is one with "sweeping implications" likely to affect numerous other identifiable proceedings. Watson, 155 Wn.2d at 578. Xtalic does not attempt to show that the governing standard is met beyond a conclusory reference to RAP 13.4(b)(4). And even if it had, such a contention is unpersuasive. The court's routine application of an established rule of appellate procedure is not an issue with "sweeping implications" that will necessarily affect numerous other proceedings. This is not a case, for example, where there is an identifiable set of existing cases that would be immediately affected by the court's ruling. Cf. Watson, 155 Wn.2d at 577-78 (issue involved question of substantial public interest where the Court of Appeals holding had "the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County ... where [the drug] sentence was or is at issue.").

Ultimately, Xtalic implicitly asks this Court to act as an errorcorrecting Court and disregard the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). Even if considered, however, Petitioners' substantive argument is without merit. As the Court of Appeals recognized, RAP 2.4(a) establishes the requirements for granting affirmative relief to a respondent on appeal. Op. at 24. A cross-appeal is one such requirement. *Id.* at 24-25 (citing *State v. Sims*, 171 Wn.2d 436, 442-43 (2011)). The Supreme Court has held that a party seeks affirmative relief where it seeks reversal of a trial court order rather than merely offering alternative argument for affirming the trial court. *Sims*, 171 Wn.2d at 442-43; *see also In re Arbitration of Doyle*, 93 Wn. App. 120, 127 (1998) (holding that, when a respondent "requests a partial reversal of the trial court's decision, he seeks affirmative relief").

The only question here was whether Xtalic sought affirmative relief when it pressed personal jurisdiction as an "alternative basis" for "affirming" summary judgment. It did. The Supreme Court has already held that seeking reversal of a trial court decision is a request for affirmative relief, and here, Xtalic unquestionably sought a reversal of the trial court's denial of its motion to dismiss on personal jurisdiction grounds. The court further addressed this question with the commonsense holding that a change of relief from a dismissal *with* prejudice (on summary judgment) to a dismissal *without* prejudice (which would be appropriate following reversal of the personal jurisdiction order) is a request for affirmative relief. Op. at 26-27.

In sum, Xtalic could have filed a cross appeal challenging the trial court's earlier denial of its motion to dismiss, which would have preserved the issue and provided for the appropriate briefing schedule. It declined to do so. Review is not warranted now under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4). The court's application of well-understood appellate procedure rules is neither inconsistent with existing precedent, in conflict with other Court of Appeals decisions, nor an issue of substantial public interest.²

C. The Court's Routine Application of Established Trade Secret Law Does Not Justify Review

The Court of Appeals application of established trade secret principles to the facts in this case was likewise correct. Petitioners nonetheless seek review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) of the court's holding that there were disputed issues of fact precluding summary judgment on Modumetal's trade secret and contract claims. *See* Pet. at 10-11. Petitioners' argument distills to the assertion that trade secret plaintiffs must prove "actual use or disclosure" of trade secrets and that allowing anything less allows "former employers to wield trade secret litigation as an unbargained for noncompetition agreement, in conflict with this Court's precedent." Pet. at 11. According to Petitioners,

² To the extent review is accepted, the Court should limit review to the decision addressing the need to cross appeal. Xtalic asks in a footnote, with almost no support, that the Court go further and hold that Washington lacks personal jurisdiction even though the Court of Appeals did not address that question. That passing assertion is not sufficiently addressed to justify the Court's review. *See State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 868-69 (2004) ("[T]his court will not review issues for which inadequate argument has been briefed or only passing treatment has been made").

"access,' 'overlap,' and 'similarity' – standing alone – are insufficient to defeat summary judgment, where, as here, a defendant can establish (as Xtalic did with unrebutted evidence) that it independently developed the trade secret." Pet. at 12. Petitioners then assert that the court adopted and applied the inevitable disclosure doctrine. Pet. at 16-17.

Petitioners fail to show that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4) and, more importantly, their argument highlights that there is no error in the Court of Appeals decision. Petitioners argue in vague terms that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the Supreme Court's precedents requiring explicit non-competition agreements. Pet. at 16-17. But Petitioners' argument depends on the false assertion that the Court of Appeals applied the inevitable disclosure doctrine and addressed non-competition agreements. The Court of Appeals decision rejected that argument, explaining, as Modumetal had, that no reliance on the inevitable disclosure doctrine is needed where actual misappropriation can be inferred from Xtalic's patent applications. Op. at. 18 ("[W]e need not and do not address the applicability of the inevitable disclosure doctrine."). Indeed, the decision clarified that Modumetal never argued that disclosure was inevitable but had not yet occurred. As the court recognized, the evidence here, in the light most favorable to Modumetal, showed that Xtalic *used* and *disclosed*—in the past—Modumetal's trade secrets by using them, at least, in public patent applications. Op. at 14, 18. Modumetal has never argued that Mr. Martin could not work for Xtalic (or any other company), much less invoked the inevitable disclosure doctrine to enjoin future misappropriation.

It is beyond dispute that even if non-competition agreements are not permitted—a point not at issue in this case—Washington law prohibits trade secret misappropriation. And that is exactly what the Court of Appeals recognized here. Petitioners' argument that the court's decision conflicts with this Court's precedent is accordingly misplaced. The Court of Appeals found that there were disputed issues of fact regarding actual misappropriation in the past. The Court of Appeals did not hold, as Petitioners now suggest, that Modumetal was entitled to enforce a non-compete agreement in a manner at odds with this Court's precedent. Review is unwarranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

Nor is Petitioners' argument correct as a matter of law or fact. As the Court of Appeals recognized, RCW 19.108.010(2)(b) defines misappropriation as the "disclosure or use of a trade secret of another" under statutorily-proscribed circumstances. Op. at 13. Petitioners' inclusion of Modumetal's trade secrets in its public patent applications is, by definition, a prior *use* and *disclosure* of those trade secrets. While Xtalic's counsel argued (and continues to argue) that Xtalic "independently developed" Modumetal's trade secrets in conclusory fashion, Xtalic nowhere offered evidence of independent development of each trade secrets. Indeed, Modumetal's Reply brief on appeal identified numerous exemplary trade secrets for which Petitioners offered no evidence regarding independent development. Reply at 11. Thus, contrary to Petitioners' assertion, they did not present "unrebutted evidence of [Xtalic's] independent research" for every trade secret. *See id.*; Op. at 17-18. Absent such evidence, a jury is entitled to find that Modumetal's trade secrets were misappropriated when Xtalic used and disclosed them in its patent applications.³

D. The Court's Application of Governing Supreme Court Authority Does Not Justify Review

Petitioners' "preemption" argument likewise fails to provide a justification for review. As Petitioners acknowledge, the Court of Appeals applied *Boeing Co. v. Sierracin Corp.*, 108 Wn.2d 38 (1987). *See* Op. at 20 ("<u>Boeing has not been overruled, and it is still good law.</u>"). The law is clear because the Supreme Court has addressed the issue in

³ Petitioners' argument regarding independent development is particularly troublesome given its refusal to provide discovery on how Modumetal's trade secrets ended up in its patents despite being different from work Xtalic previously performed. This is, among others, one more reason why the Court of Appeals properly concluded that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Modumetal's CR 56(f) request.

an on-point decision that bound the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals decision here applied that holding. Op. at 21. Accordingly, review of the court's opinion under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is not warranted.

Nor is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) or (4). Contrary to Petitioners' characterization that the court recognized Boeing's holding as conflicting with Division 2's opinion in Thola v. Henschell, 140 Wn. App. 70 (2007) the court's opinion is clear: There was no basis to distinguish *Boeing*. Moreover, Division 2's decision in *Thola* failed to acknowledge *Boeing*'s holding, did not in analyze the appropriate test for preemption, and cannot supersede that decision. Op. at 20. Nor are they necessarily in conflict given that Thola did not reject Boeing; it simply did not address it. See SEUI Healthcare Northwest Training P'Ship v. Evergreen Freedom Found., No. 76220-6-I, 2018 WL 4691593, at *4-6 (2018) (recognizing Boeing as the "leading case" on UTSA preemption). The Court of Appeals opinion in this case thus reflects the routine application of established precedent. Such a holding does not justify review as conflicting with existing precedent or as a question of substantial public interest. Petitioners simply do not like the rule laid out in *Boeing*. That is not a basis for obtaining review.

Respectfully submitted this 22nd day of October 2018.

PERKINS COIE LLP

/s/ Ramsey M. Al-Salam

Ramsey M. Al-Salam, WSBA No. 18822 RAlsalam@perkinscoie.com Lane M. Polozola, WSBA No. 50138 LPolozola@perkinscoie.com

1201 Third Avenue, Suite 4900 Seattle, WA 98101-3099 Tel: 206.359.8000 Fax: 206.359.9000

Attorneys for Respondent Modumetal, Inc.